ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

MAY 2 3 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY______

PAUL PARKER,

Petitioner,

Vs.

Case No. scoo-880

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

)

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

JENNIFER L. BROOKS
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Paul Parker
Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor
421 3rd Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 0166340

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

Counsel for defendant/appellant certifies that the following persons and entities have or may have an interest in the outcome of this case:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida and Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was Appellee, below.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to **as** they appear before this Honorable Court. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix.

The symbol "R" will denote the record on appeal, which consists of the relevant documents filed below. The symbol "T" will denote the transcript.

CERTIFICATION OF TYPE FACE

Petitioner certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is not spaced proportionately.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Paul Parker, **was** charged with armed robbery of Linda Ward and armed burglary of a convenience store where Ward and Richard Knott were working (R 1-3). Petitioner requested a jury trial (R 30).

At petitioner's trial, the evidence showed that Richard Knott was doing inventory behind the register the night the store was robbed (T 157-160). That evening, petitioner's brother walked into the store and asked Knott's co-worker, Linda Ward to help him find some juice (T 160-162, 174). While Ward was showing him the cooler at the back of the store petitioner approached the register and pulled a gun out of his jacket (T 162-163,167). Petitioner, wearing a mask, made a threatening remark instructed the people in the store to lay on the floor (T 163, 175), Ward and Tyrone at the back of the store laid down on the floor (T 163, 175). Unable to open the register, petitioner went into a room behind the counter, which employees used as a break room and a place to put their belongings while they work (T 164). When he came out of the room, he tried to open the safe under the counter by pushing buttons and in turn set off an alarm (T 164). Hearing the alarm, he left (T 165). Tyrone stood up and Knott and Ward saw him leave the store and get in the passenger side of a car (T165,176-177). When the car was later stopped it was occupied by petitioner, Tyrone, and Tyrone's girlfriend (T 316-318).

Ward called 911 and reported an attempted robbery, informing police that as far as she knew, the men did not take anything from the store (T 178). However, when the police arrived, she discovered that her purse and a skirt, which she left on a desk in the room behind the counter, were gone (T 178).

Detective Eisenhut interviewed petitioner at the Indian River County Sheriff's Office on the night that petitioner was arrested (T 251-253). During the interview, petitioner indicated he was on drugs and admitted that he and his brother were involved in an attempted robbery at the Shell station and a robbery at the National Food Mart (T 273-281, 288).

At the close of the state's case, petitioner moved for a Judgement of Acquittal, arguing that the state failed to establish a prima facie case and based on insufficient identification of petitioner (T 304). The court denied petitioner's motion (T 305). After testifying, petitioner renewed his motion for Judgement of Acquittal and the court again denied the motion (T 341-342).

The jury found petitioner guilty of two counts of armed robbery with a firearm while wearing a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his identity and one count of burglary of a structure while armed as charged in the information (T 423-424). Submitting evidence of petitioner's prior felony conviction, the prosecutor requested a life sentence under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, Fla. Stat. §775.082 (T 432-433). The court found

that petitioner met the criteria for the reoffender statute (T 436). Petitioner requested a ruling on his previously filed Motion for a New Trial; the court denied the motion (T 436, 438). then requested sentencing under the Petitioner guidelines rather than under the reoffender statute (T 438-439). The court rejected petitioner's request and adjudicated him quilty of the three enumerated offenses (T 439). For the first count of robbery with a firearm, the court sentenced petitioner to a term of life with 466 days credit with a three year minimum mandatory for the use of a firearm (T 440). Petitioner was sentenced to a consecutive life term for the second count of robbery with a firearm with a concurrent sentence of 30 years for armed burglary (T 441-443).

Petitioner timely filed his Notice of Appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal (R.64). On appeal, he argued (1) the facts proven by the state, as a matter of Law, do not support petitioner's conviction for robbery with a firearm, (2) petitioner was erroneously convicted of burglary because the premises were open to the public at the time and (3) petitioner's sentence under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act was unlawful because the Act is unconstitutional. The District Court rendered a per curium decision, without an opinion, affirming the trial court's ruling and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. This Court's order of April 27, 2000, states that jurisdiction will be determined upon consideration of the merit briefs. This brief is Petitioner's brief on the merits.

STJMMARY OF ARGUMENT

petitioner was charged with two counts of robbery with a deadly weapon and one count of burglary of a structure while armed. An employee, who was allegedly robbed, was unaware that anything was taken from her until deputies arrived to investigate. No violence or force was used to render her unaware of the taking. Consequently, the taking of her property amounts to no more than petit theft. The facts do not support petitioner's conviction for robbery with a firearm, his conviction must be reversed.

The convenience store was open to the public at the time of the alleged burglary. The state presented no evidence that the room petitioner entered was clearly not open to the public. No restricted access signs were posted and the employees never told petitioner that only authorized personnel were allowed in the room. Without explicit notice to the contrary, the room should be considered part of the premises open to the public. Where the

premises were open to the public, this is a complete defense to burglary and petitioner's conviction must be reversed.

The trial court erroneously sentenced petitioner under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act. The Act is unconstitutional because it violates separation of powers, equal protection, substantive due process and the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE FACTS AFFIRMATIVELY PROVEN BY THE STATE DO NOT SUPPORT THE CHARGED OFFENSE OF ROBBERY WITH A FIREARM; CONVICTING PETITIONER OF THIS OFFENSE CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

When the Supreme Court has jurisdiction to answer a certified question, the Court has jurisdiction to review other alleged errors raised in the appellate court. <u>See Weiand v. State</u>, 732 So.2d 1044, 1057 (Fla. 1999) (citing <u>Leisure Resorts</u>, <u>Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 654 So.2d 911, 912 (Fla. 1995)).

On appeal to the district court, petitioner argued that viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the record fails to support his conviction for robbery with a firearm of Linda Ward. During the alleged robbery, Ward lay on the floor at the back of the store near the drink cooler (T 175). Although petitioner made a threatening remark, implying that he was carrying a gun, Ward testified that she never saw a gun (T 176). Moreover, Ward indicated that aside from the beeps from the alarm, she could not hear much, because Tyrone lay next to her, talking and telling

her that he was afraid (T 176). Ward did not see or hear petitioner take her purse and skirt from the room behind the counter (T 176-178). Even after petitioner and Tyrone left, she was unaware that anything had been taken from her and reported to the 911 operator "[t]hey didn't get anything as far as I know, but we have had an attempted robbery." (T 178).

To sustain a robbery conviction, the state must prove that petitioner took money or property from the person or custody of another through the use of force, violence, assault, or putting in fear. §812.13(1) Fla. Stat. (1997). Distinguishing robbery from theft, in Harris v. State, 589 So.2d 1006, 1007 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), the court observed that "force or threat must be used in an effort to obtain or retain the victim's property." In Harris, a victim of sexual battery later discovered that money and jewelry were missing from her purse. Id. at 1007, The sexual battery occurred in her bedroom and the property was taken from her purse living room. Id. In reversing appellant's robbery conviction, the court found "no evidence in the record linking the taking of the money and jewelry with any force or threat of force used in the commission of the sexual battery." Id. Moreover, the court stated, "Where the victim, at the time, is not even aware of the taking, it is not a taking by force or putting in fear." Id.; See also Robinson v. State, 680 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1St DCA

1996) quashed and remanded 692 So.2d 883 (Fla. 1997); Walker v. State, 546 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

However, this Court has recognized an exception to the general rule that the victim must be aware of the taking for the offense to constitute robbery. In Jones v. State, 652 So.2d 346, 349 (Fla. 1995), the Court sustained the defendant's robbery conviction and held "[t]here is no requirement that the victim be aware that a robbery is being committed if force or violence was used to render the victim unaware of the taking." In contrast to the instant case, in Jones, the defendant fatally stabbed an elderly couple and subsequently took the man's wallet and rummaged through the woman's "where the purse for valuables. <u>Id</u>. at 350. The Court held, defendant employs force or violence that renders the victim unaware of the taking, the force or violence component of the robbery statute is satisfied." Id. See also Pangburn v. State. 661 So.2d (Fla. 1995) (affirming appellant's 1182, 1186-1187 conviction where he admitted the victims were killed for their car).

In the instant case no force or violence was used to take the property from Ward's possession. At most Ward was put in fear during an attempted robbery of the cash register and the store safe (T 160-165, 174-178). However, fear alone is insufficient to elevate theft to robbery where as in the instant case, the person in possession of the property was unaware of the taking. Harris—V.—

State, Supra at 1007. Consequently, removal of Ward's purse and skirt amounts to no more than petit theft and as a matter of law the facts do not support petitioner's conviction for robbery with a firearm of Linda Ward. "A conviction is fundamentally erroneous when the facts affirmatively proven by the state do not constitute the charged offense as a matter of law." Griffin v. State, 705 So.2d 572, 574 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). See also Troedel v. State, 462 So.2d 392, 399 (Fla. 1985); K.A.N. v. State, 582 So.2d 57, 59 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Brown v. State, 652 So.2d 877, 881 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); Williams v. State, 516 So.2d 975 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Petitioner's conviction of robbery with a firearm of Linda Ward, as a fundamental error, must be reversed.

POINT II

BECAUSE PREMISES WERE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AT THE TIME PETITIONER ENTERED, STATE CAN NOT SUSTAIN PETITIONER'S BURGLARY CONVICTION; ABSENT AFFIRMATIVE NOTICE THAT ACCESS IS RESTRICTED, CONTIGUOUS AREAS SHOULD BE CONSIDERED PART OF THE PREMISES OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.

This issue was raised on appeal below. This Court has jurisdiction to review this error and to clarify the scope of premises open to the public for purposes of a burglary conviction.

Weiand supra.

The evidence showed that during an attempted robbery of the Shell Station, while the store was open for business, petitioner entered a room behind the counter where the cash register was located (T 164). Employees used the area as a place to take smoke

breaks and often left their belongings there while they worked (T 166). Although the room has a door, there was no testimony that petitioner opened the door to go inside (T 164-166). Moreover, there was no indication that the area was restricted to authorized personnel or employees only (T 164-166, 178-179). The evidence did not reveal any restricted access signs or physical barriers, such as a locked door. <u>Id.</u> Nor did the employees inform petitioner that he could not go in there or that only employees were allowed in that room. <u>Id.</u>

In Miller v. State, 733 So.2d 955,957 (Fla. 1998), this Court held that once a defendant establishes the premises were open to the public, it is a complete defense to burglary. Furthermore, in applying Miller to recent cases, this Court stated, "[w]e do not find any merit to the State's argument in this case that the area behind the counter was not open to the public." State v. Butler, 735 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1999); State v. Laster, 735 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1999). But see Johnson v. State, 737 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1St DCA court case # 1999) (pending discretionary review in Supreme 96,234) (affirming appellant's burglary conviction where appellant followed a store owner behind the check-out counter ignoring the other store owner's admonition that appellant was not permitted in the area); See also Thomas v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1760 (Fla. 3d DCA July 28, 1999) (finding Miller inapplicable because appellant entered area behind check-in desk and manager's office

through fraud, thus cases dealing with entry and consent by fraud apply); State v. Graney, 380 So.2d 500 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980) (reversing appellee's motion to dismiss burglary charge where the door was propped open at a 24-hour apartment complex laundry room and appellee never argued the premises were open to the public).

In defining the scope of the premises open to the public, the Court should consider whether explicit notice was given that access to an area is restricted. For example, in Dakes v. State, 545 So.2d 939 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), the court affirmed appellant's burglary conviction, finding that although the storeroom door was unlocked, "authorized personnel" and "associates only" signs were posted on the door, which informed appellant that access was restricted and that the area was not part of the premises open to the public. Although Dakes preceded this Court's decision in Miller, the Court may find the reasoning in <u>Dakes</u> persuasive and not inconsistent with Miller. Thus **a** court may uphold a burglary conviction where explicit notice is given that an area is not part of the premises open to the public. However, that situation is not presented by the evidence in the instant case. In the instant case the state provided no evidence that restricted access signs were posted or that the employees told petitioner he could not go into the room (T 164-166, 178-179) .Without explicit notice to the contrary, the room in the instant case, like the area behind the

counter, should be considered part of the premises open to the public. <u>Butler; Laster supra</u> (for purposes of the burglary statute the premises open to the public included the area behind the counter).

The convenience store was open to the public at the time petitioner entered and the state presented no evidence that the room behind the counter was clearly not open to the public (T 159-160, 166,178). Consequently the evidence does not support petitioner's burglary conviction. See Miller 733 So.2d at 957. As a fundamental error, the conviction must be reversed. See Griffin, 705 So.2d at 574; Troedel, 462 So.2d at 399; K.A.N., 582 So.2d at 59; Brown, 652 So.2d at 881; Williams, 516 So.2d 97.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING APPELLANT UNDER THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER (PRR) ACT BECAUSE THE ACT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL. 1

A. THE ACT VIOLATES THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE BY DELEGATING JUDICIAL SENTENCING POWER TO THE STATE ATTORNEY.

Florida's Constitution, Article II, Section 3, divides the powers of state government into legislative, executive, and judicial branches and says that "No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other

Petitioner adopts the arguments from the petitioner's brief in <u>James Simmons v. State</u>, Supreme Court No. 96-465. In this brief, the arguments are slightly more summarized.

branches unless expressly provided herein". The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, § 775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997) violates that provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the state attorney, a member of the executive branch.

The legislature's stated intent was to impose mandatory sentences on all eligible defendants. However, the Act provided for exemptions in (d) 1.if the following circumstances exist²:

- a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;
- b. The testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained;
- c. The victim does not want the offender to receive the mandatory prison sentence and provides a written statement to that effect; or
- d. Other extenuating circumstances exist which preclude the iust prosecution of the offender. (Emphasis added).

The state attorney has the discretion (may seek) to invoke PRR sanctions by evaluating subjective criteria; if so opted by the state attorney the court is required to (must) impose the maximum sentence. By rejecting statutory exceptions, the prosecutor divests the trial judge of any sentencing discretion. Delegating such discretion to the executive branch and displacing the sentencing power inherently vested in the judiciary conflicts with separation of powers because, when <u>sentencing</u> discretion is statutorily

² This section has been amended. The effect of the amendment is discussed infra.

authorized, the judiciary must have at least a share of that discretion.

Florida's constitution expressly precludes one branch from exercising powers of another 3. The PRR Act erroneously delegates to the executive branch the authority to choose among sentencing options. As acknowledged in Woods, in Florida "the plenary power to prescribe the punishment for criminal offenses lies with the legislature, not the courts." Ibid. Likewise, because this is a legislative function, the executive branch has no authority to prescribe punishment. Therein lies the flaw in the Act and the lower court's interpretation of it. The legislature clearly has the authority to enact mandatory sentences. E.g., O'Donnell v.

* * *

Regardless of the criticism of the court's application of the doctrine, we nevertheless conclude that it represents a recognition of the express limitation contained in the second sentence of Article II, Section 3 of our Constitution. Under the fundamental document adopted and several times ratified by the citizens of this State, the legislature is not free to redelegate to an administrative body so much of its lawmaking power as it may deem expedient. And that is at the crux of the issue before us.

See, <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So. 2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978):

It should be noted that Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution, contrary to the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Washington, does by its second sentence contain an express limitation upon the exercise by a member of one branch of any powers appertaining to either of the other branches of government.

State, 326 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1975) (Thirty year minimum mandatory sentence for kidnaping is constitutional); Owens v. State, 316 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1975) (Upholding minimum mandatory 25 year sentence for capital felony); State v. Sesler, 386 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) (Legislature was authorized to enact 3 year mandatory minimum for possession of firearm). That is not the issue in this case. Rather the argument is that the legislature cannot delegate to the state attorney, through vague standards, the discretion to choose both the charge and the penalty and thereby impinge the judiciary's traditional function of imposing sentence.

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