ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL
JUN 19 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

PAUL PARKER,

Petitioner,

VS.

Case No. scoo-880

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA TERENZIO FLA. BAR NO. 656879 WEST PALM BEACH BUREAU CHIEF CRIMINAL APPEALS

MARRETT W. HANNA
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0016039
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(561) 688-7759
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

CASE NO.: 99-1200 PAUL PARKER V. STATE OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I - Petitioner's allegation that the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support the charged offense of robbery with a firearm of Linda Ward was not preserved for appeal. He never presented this argument to the trial court. Nevertheless, the evidence presented established that Petitioner entered the convenience store wearing a mask and holding a gun, ordered everyone to get down on the **ground.** Petitioner also told everyone that he would kill or shoot anyone who looked up from the ground. Thus, his use of force or violence prevented the victim from viewing Petitioner's theft of her purse. These facts, which were affirmatively proven by the state constitute the robbery as a matter of law.

Issue II - This point is not preserved for appeal. Petitioner never made an 'open to the public" affirmative defense, nor did he attempt to prove that the closed door behind the counter leading to the back room where he stole Ward's purse and leather skirt was open to the public. Thus, the burden never shifted to the State to prove that the back office was not open to the public. Rather, Petitioner's defense was that he did not commit the robberies and/or burglaries and was nowhere near the scene. In any event, there was sufficient evidence presented to establish that the back office was not open to the public.

Issue III- The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act does not violate the separation of powers clause. Petitioner committed this new offense on November 22, 1997, after the effective date of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, which was May 30, 1997. Thus, the Act may be applied to him. Moreover, the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act has been held to be constitutional by this Court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

AS A MATTER OF LAW, **THE** UNREBUTTED FACTS PROVEN 'BY THE STATE SUPPORT THE CHARGED OFFENSE OF ROBBERY WITH A FIREARM (Restated).

Petitioner argues that the crime of robbery for Linda Ward's purse was not proven by the State's evidence because the evidence indicated that Ward did not know that her purse was taken from the back office of the convenience store until after she called the police. The state respectfully disagrees with this argument.

Initially, the state points out that this issue has not been properly preserved for appellate review. Petitioner admittedly never made this argument in his motion for judgment of acquittal ox his motion for a new trial. It is clear from the record that the only issue raised in Petitioner's motion'for judgment of acquittal was the state's failure to adequately prove Petitioner's identification. (Vol. 3, T 304). Moreover, Petitioner failed to renew his motion for judgement of acquittal after the defense rested, following Petitioner's testimony. (Vol. 3, T 337). In addition, Petitioner's motion for a new trial only alleged that the trial court erred in denying the motion for judgement of acquittal, allowing evidence to be admitted over defense objections, and that the verdict was not only contrary to the law, but also the weight of the evidence, (Vol. 1, R 41). This motion did not address the fact that Ward did not know her purse and skirt were stolen until

after Petitioner left.

It is well established that in order to preserve an issue for review on appeal, it must be asserted as the legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below. See, Archer v. State, 613

So.2d 446, 448 (Fla.1993) (For an issue to be preserved for appeal, it must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla.1982). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.380 requires that a motion for judgment of acquittal "fully set forth the grounds on which it is based." See, Fla.R.Crim.Pro. 3.380(b). Thus, Petitioner's failure to present this argument to the trial court in his motion for judgment of acquittal or his motion for new trial precludes it assertion on appeal.

should Nevertheless, this Court reach the merits of Petitioner's claim, his argument still fails. Petitioner correctly asserts that the state must prove that he took money or property from the person or custody of another through the use of force, violence, assault, or putting in fear under section 812.13(1), Fla.Stat, He has neglected to acknowledge, however, that the law does not require the victim to be aware that a robbery is being committed, if' force or violence was used to render thm victim unaware of ths taking, which is precisely what occurred here. Jones v. State, 652 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 1995); Pangburn v. State, 661

So. 2d 1182, 1186-1187 (Fla. 1995).

In the instant case, Knott testified that Petitioner entered the convenience store wearing a mask and pointing a gun. (Vol. 2, Petitioner ordered everyone in the store to lie on the floor and further warned: "If you all get up, I'll kill you or put a bullet in you." (Vol. 2, T 163). In addition to Knott's testimony, Ward also testified to essentially the same thing. Petitioner told everyone to lie on the floor and warned everyone that if anyone raised his head up that "[Petitioner] would put a bullet in us or blow our heads off." (Vol. 2, T 176). Furthermore, in his voluntary statement to the police, Petitioner admitted that he used a .9 millimeter gun in the robbery. (Vol. 3, T 276,283). What is more, Petitioner admitted at trial that this gun was loaded. '(Vol. 3, T 335). Clearly, under these facts there is no question that Petitioner took Ward's purse and the leather skirt through the use of force, violence as he put the victims' in fear for their lives.

Moreover, there is no requirement that a **victim test** the ability or resolve of a defendant to kill/shoot the victim in order to support a finding as a matter of law that the robbery was **committed** by the use of force or violence or putting the victim in fear. Again, from the record it is **clear** that Petitioner used a gun during the robbery It is equally that he threatened to kill or shoot the victim if she **lifted** her head from the floor. These

threats, which Petitioner was obviously fully capable of carrying out placed not only the victim in fear for her life, but all of the other people in the convenience store as well. Quite simply, the victim, by Petitioner's show of force and threats, was rendered incapable of the ability to "see" or "wew" Petitioner take her purse. Although the victim did not realize that Petitioner took her purse until after she called 991 and went to get a cigarette out of her purse, Petitioner completed the robbery when he threatened the victims' lives/controlled them with his gun and then took the purse. These uncontested facts presented by the State, without question support Petitioner's conviction for robbery with a firearm of Linda Ward, as a matter of law. Thus, Griffin v. State, 705 So. 2d 572, 574 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) is inapplicable to this case.

Accordingly, Petitioner's conviction and sentence must be affirmed.

ISSUE II

PETITIONER TOOK THE VICTIM'S PURSE FROM TEE BACK OFFICE, WHICH WAS NOT OPEN TO TEE PUBLIC (Restated).

On appeal, Petitioner contends that there was no testimony that he opened the door to the back room and entered an

¹G if fin holds that a conviction is fundamentally erroneous when the facts affirmatively proven by 'the **state do** not constitute charged offense as a matter of law.

unrestricted area. Here again, however, the record refutes
Petitioner's contention.

At the trial, both Knotts and Ward testified that the room Petitioner entered was in fact an office. (Vol. 2, T 166,178). Knotts explained that this room was the owner's office, which was used for separate business. (Vol. 2, T 166). In addition, both Knotts and Ward explained that in addition to having a door accessing the store, the office had a separate entrance on the outside, which was always locked. (Vol. 2, T 166,178,179). Knotts specifically testified that the office was not open to the public because its door that was always closed and Ward testified she placed her personal belongings (her purse and a leather skirt) on desk in this office. (Vol. 2, T 166,178).

Although the door to this back office was behind the counter, it is clear from the testimony that it was not open to the public. (Vol. 2, T164). Contrary to Petitioner's argument, this is not a case where he simply reached or walked behind the counter to steal whatever he wanted. Rather the evidence showed that Petitioner not only walked behind the counter, but that took the added step of opening the door to enter the back office. While the main area of the store was open to the public, access to the closed back office was clearly restricted. In other words, it was not part of the premises open to the public within the scope of section 810.02, Fla.Stat. To reiterate, the back office was not readily available

to the public. Instead, it was two steps removed from the normal business area: 1) It was behind the counter, where a customer would not have access, particularly because the cash register was located there; and 2) It was protected by a closed door. This office/break room was simply not open to the public.

In Miller v. State. 733 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1999) this Court held that 'if a defendant can establish that the premises were open to the public, then this is a complete defense" to burglary. Since consent to enter a premises is an affirmative defense to burglary, the defendant bears the burden of initially offering evidence to establish this "open to the public" affirmative defense. If a defendant offers evidence to establish this defense, the burden then shifts back to the state to disprove the defense beyond a reasonable doubt, Hansman v. State. 679 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Miller v. State, supra; State v. Butler. 735 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1999)². In the instant case, Petitioner did not plead or even attempt to prove the 'open to the public" affirmative defense." As a result, he has failed to preserve this issue for review. Additionally, because lack of consent to entry is not a

The state of the s

In <u>Butler</u> this Court stated, "We do not find any merit to the State's argument in this case that the area behind the counter was not open to the public," The ruling regarding the area behind the counter is limited to the facts of that case and is not a general rule. Whether or not the area behind the counter is open to the public depend&on the facts of the case. In the instant case, the Petitioner has the burden of pleading and establishing that the back office was open to the public.

threshold element of burglary of a dwelling, the state was not required to allege and prove it. State v. Hicks, 421 So.2d 510, 511 (Fla.1982); 661 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995).

Petitioner's defense was that he was at the Ereenleaf Bar at the time of the robberies, He testified that he left Ft. Meyers for the Greenleaf Bar in Vero Beach at about 9:30 p.m. and arrived at about 10 p.m. (Vol. 3, T 324). He explained that his brother and Sharyle picked him up around 1:00 or 1:50 in the morning. (Vol.3, T 312,326). Petitioner also testified that he arrived at his mother's house at about 2:00 a.m. (Vol. 3, T 329-330). Since the robberies took place at about 9:30 p.m. (Vol. 2, T 160,174), Petitioner's defense was that he was not at the convenience store and accordingly did not rob anyone at the convenience store. He never argued, nor did he prove that the back office was open to the public or that someone with authority gave him consent to enter the back office. Consequently, the state never had the burden to prove that the back office was not open to the public.

Nevertheless, the record reveals that the state did in fact submit testimony demonstrating that the back office was not open to the public. The state also demonstrated that Petitioner went behind the counter, opened the closed door, and entered the back private office with the intent to commit an offense (theft) therein. This testimony was uncontested and uncontradicted.

Accordingly, Petitioner's conviction and sentence was properly

affirmed.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE PETITIONER UNDER TEE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT BECAUSE THE ACT 18 NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL³.

Petitioner alleges that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is not constitutional for a variety of reasons. Initially, the state notes that Petitioner never objected to his sentence on any of these grounds. Therefore, he has failed to preserve this issue for appeal. See State v. Chamberlain, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2514 (Fla. 2nd DCA Nov. 3, 1999). Furthermore, Petitioner committed this new offense on November 22, 1997 (two months after his release from prison (T 435), after the May 30, 1997 effective date of the Act. Thus, the Act may be applied to the Petitioner. Arnold v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1834 (Fla. 4th DCA Aug 4, 1999).

It is well established that legislative acts are strongly presumed constitutional. See State v. Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981). Courts should resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of the constitutionality of a statute. Florida League of Cities. Inc. v. Administration Com'n, 586 So. 2d 397, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). An act should not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. Todd v. State, 643 So. 2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). The party attacking the statute has the burden to establish that the statute

³Like Petitioner, Respondent adopts portions of its argument from Respondents's brief in <u>Simmons v. State</u>. **SC96-465**.

is unconstitutional. <u>State v. Sobieck</u>, 701 so. **2d** 96, **104** (**Fla.** 5th DCA 1997); <u>McElrath v. Burley</u>, **707 So. 2d** 836, 838-839 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

Petitioner, however, demands that this Court. cast these principles aside to reach the conclusion that the judiciary has utterly no sentencing discretion in the event that the prosecutor (within his discretion) seeks to invoke the Act and that the state attorney acts in the legislative capacity. Contrary to Petitioner's argument, however, the statute does not remove the court's ultimate discretion to impose sentence, nor does it infringe the constitutional division upon of responsibilities. Quite simply, the prosecutor cannot impose sentence himself. And as the Fourth District has done, so must this Court in conducting its, de novo review must construe the statute in a way that reserves some discretion in the trial court for sentencing, by interpreting section 775.082(8) (d)1. as placing responsibility with the trial court to make findings of fact and exercise its discretion in determining the application of an enumerated exception to the mandatory sentence. See Rollinson v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2253 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 29, 1999); see also State v. Cotton, 728 So.2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

The Florida legislature passed the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act in 1997. CH 97-239, LAWS OF FLORIDA. The Act, codified as \$775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997). The prison releasee

reoffender statute differentiates based on the seriousness of the current criminal offense. Only **a** defendant who commits **a** felony punishable by life receives a sentence of life without parole. A defendant who commits a third degree felony serves a mandatory five year sentence. The penalty a prison releasee reoffencler receives varies with the degree **of** the current offense. The statute prescribes mandatory sentences under specified conditions with specific exceptions.

1. SEPARATION OF POWERS

Petitioner argues that the PRR statute violates the separation of powers clause. This Court's decision in State v. Cotton, 94-996 (Fla. June 15, 2000) and Woods v. State, SC95281 (Fla. June 15, 2000), specifically rejected a separation of powers challenge. "Because the exception discretion provision is otherwise subsumed by the State's broad, underlying prosecutorial discretion, we hold that the Act, which establishes a mandatory minimum sentencing scheme, is not unconstitutional on its face as violative of separation of powers principles." Id. Accordingly, Petitioner's challenge here must also be rejected,

2. THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE.

Petitioner claims that the prison releasee reoffender statute violates equal protection because the classification it creates is irrational, The State respectfully disagrees.

Equal protection principles deal with intentional

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